IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

ADAMS COMMUNITY CARE CENTER, LLC, et al.

DEFENDANTS/APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2009-CA-00730

SHEILA REED

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the trial court properly denied Defendants' Motion to Dismiss, to Compel

1

Arbitration and to Stay and all factual and legal issues related thereto.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. NATURE OF THE CASE, COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION IN THE COURT BELOW

On December 27, 2005, Plaintiff, Sheila Reed, as Personal Representative and Conservator of Annie Reed¹ ("Plaintiff"), filed a Complaint against numerous Defendants in the Circuit Court of Adams County, Mississippi alleging, inter alia, that Annie Reed was a resident of Adams County Nursing Center ("ACNC"), and that while a resident of ACNC, she received inadequate care and treatment. (R. 3A-3L; Appellants' R.E. 8-19).² On June 8, 2005. Defendants, Adams Community Care Center, LLC d/b/a/ Adams County Nursing Center, Adams County Nursing Center, Magnolia Management Corporation d/b/a Magnolia Ancillary Services, Inc., Comm-Care Mississippi d/b/a Adams Comm-Care, LLC, and Edward E. Crow, Administrator ("Defendants"), filed a Motion to Dismiss, To Compel Arbitration and To Stay ("Motion to Compel Arbitration") and submitted a supporting Memorandum Brief. (R. 1-22). On June 29, 2006, Defendants filed a Notice of Hearing on the Motion to Compel Arbitration, and thereafter on July 6, 2006, filed a Re-Notice of Hearing scheduling the hearing on the Motion to Compel Arbitration before Honorable Lillie Blackmon Sanders, Circuit Court Judge, on September 8, 2006. On September 5, 2006, Plaintiff filed a Response to the Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R. 23-42). On December 11, 2006, Defendants filed a Re-Notice of Hearing, scheduling the Motion to Compel Arbitration for hearing before Judge Sanders on March 5, 2007. On March 5, 2007, Judge Sanders heard oral argument on Defendants' Motion to Compel

¹Upon information and belief, Annie Reed passed away following her discharge from ACNC due to causes unrelated to any treatment or care, or alleged inadequate care or treatment, at the facility.

²References to the record are designated "R." followed by the applicable page number(s). References to the Appellants' Record Excerpts are designated "Appellants' R.E." followed by the page number(s). References to the transcript are designated "TR." followed by the page number(s).

Arbitration. On September 12, 2008, Plaintiff filed a Supplement to Prior Response to Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration (R. 43-48), and on September 25, 2008, Defendants filed a Supplemental Memorandum of Law in Support of the Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R. 49-57).

By Order entered December 22, 2008, the trial court denied Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration.³ (R. 58-60; Appellants' R.E. 5-7). Because undersigned counsel did not receive a copy of the December 22, 2008, Order until February 17, 2009, Defendants filed a Motion to Reopen Time for Appeal Pursuant to Miss. R. App. P. 4(h) ("Motion to Reopen Time for Appeal"). (R. 61-64G). Plaintiff filed a Response to Defendants' Motion to Reopen Time for Appeal on March 6, 2009 (R. 65-70), and Defendants filed a Rebuttal in support of their Motion to Reopen Time for Appeal on March 20, 2009. (R. 71-76). Following a hearing before Judge Sanders on March 17, 2009, the Court entered an Order on March 20, 2009, granting the Defendants' Motion to Reopen Time for Appeal. (R. 77-78). On April 1, 2009, the Defendants timely filed a Notice of Appeal of the Court's December 22, 2009, Order denying Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration. (R. 79-81).

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In the Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that Annie Reed was a resident of ACNC, a nursing home owned and operated by one or more of the Defendants. (R. 3D; Appellants' R.E. 11). Plaintiff alleges that during the course of Annie Reed's stay at ACNC, she suffered from decubitus ulcers, disfigurement, malnutrition, weight loss, dehydration, infections and amputation to her left heel. (R. 3E-3F; Appellants' R.E. 12-13). The Complaint alleges claims of

l

³While the December 22, 2008, Order is styled "Order to Compel Arbitration", it actually denies the Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration.

negligence and gross negligence, and Plaintiff seeks compensatory and punitive damages against the Defendants in unspecified amounts. (R. 3J-3K; Appellants' R.E. 17-18).

On the day prior to her admission to ACNC, one of Annie Reed's physician, Dr. Tillman, in his Certification for Nursing Facility and MI/MR Screening ("Certification") signed on February 16, 2004, notes her primary and secondary diagnoses as CVA left H.P. (Cerebrovascular accident and left hemiparesis) and HTN (hypertension) and DM (diabetes mellitus), respectively. Dr. Tillman also noted that Ms. Reed was "confused", and that she required assistance or total dependence with all Activities of Daily Living ("ADLs") (R. 57R; Appellants' R.E. 51). The records from ACNC contain the following admitting diagnoses for Ms. Reed: CVA with left hemiparesis, hypertension, diabetes mellitus, constipation, syncope, OBS, UTI, PT, OT and hemiplegia. (R. 57S; Appellants' R.E. 52).

Additionally, just prior to Annie Reed's admission to the facility, DeLisa Smith, an employee of ACNC, met with Ms. Reed at Promise Specialty Hospital to discuss pre-admission matters, including the admission agreement. During this meeting, DeLisa Smith observed that Annie Reed was confused and not able to understand their conversation adequately. This is not surprising, as Annie Reed was hospitalized at Promise Specialty Hospital due to a stroke and other medical conditions. (R. 57A-57C; Appellants' R.E. 34-36).

At the time of Annie Reed's admission to ACNC on February 17, 2004, James Wesley, son and Responsible Party for Annie Reed, signed an Admission Agreement, which includes an arbitration provision. (R. 3M-3S; Appellants' R.E. 20-26). On May 21, 2004, Larry Wesley, son and Responsible Party for Annie Reed, signed another Admission Agreement, which includes an arbitration provision. (R. 3T-3Z; Appellants' R.E. 27-33). Since the Admission Agreements are identical, they will be referred to collectively as "Admission Agreement."

The Admission Agreement covers the services and care that Annie Reed received as a

resident of ACNC, as well as outlining financial terms, facility obligations, resident's responsibilities, duration and the arbitration provision. Section "E" of the Admission Agreement is entitled "Arbitration" and is initialed by James Wesley and Larry Wesley, Responsible Parties for Annie Reed. Section "E" of the Admission Agreement provides as follows:

It is understood and agreed by the Facility and Resident and/or Responsible Party that any legal dispute, controversy, demand or claim (hereinafter collectively referred to as "claim" or "claims") that arises out of or related to the Admission Agreement or any service or health care provided by the Facility to the Resident, shall be resolved exclusively by binding arbitration pursuant to the Federal Arbitration Act, to be conducted at a place agreed upon by the parties, or in the absence of such agreement, at the Facility, in accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitration which are hereby incorporated into this agreement, and not by a lawsuit or resort to court process⁴ except to the extent that applicable state or federal law provides for judicial review of arbitration proceedings or the judicial enforcement of arbitration awards.

This agreement to arbitrate includes, but is not limited to, any claim for payment, nonpayment or refund for services rendered to the Resident by the Facility, violations of any rights granted to the Resident by law or by the Admission Agreement, breach of contract, fraud or misrepresentation, negligence, gross negligence, malpractice or any other claim based on any departure from accepted standards of medical or health care or safety whether sounding in tort or in contract. However, this agreement to arbitrate shall not limit the Resident's right to file a grievance or complaint, formal or informal, with the Facility or any appropriate state or federal agency.

The parties agree that damages awarded, if any, in an arbitration conducted pursuant to this Arbitration Agreement shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of the state or federal law applicable to a comparable civil action, including any prerequisites to, credit against or limitations on, such damages.

It is the intention of the parties to this Agreement that it shall inure to the benefit of and bind the parties, their successors and assigns, including the agents, employees and servants of the Facility, and all persons who claim is derived through or on

⁴In <u>Doleac v. Real Estate Professionals, LLC</u>, 911 So. 2d 496, 503 (Miss. 2005), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that a similar arbitration provision was "valid, and that no judicial action can be maintained until arbitration has been pursued."

behalf of the Resident, including that of any parent, spouse, child, guardian, executor, administrator, legal representative, or heir of the Resident.

All claims based in whole or in part on the same incident, transaction, or related course of care or services provided by the Facility to the Resident, shall be arbitrated in one proceeding. A claim shall be waived and forever barred if it arose prior to the date upon which notice of arbitration is given to the Facility or received by the Resident, and is not presented in the arbitration proceeding.

The parties understand and agree that by entering this Arbitration Agreement they are giving up and waiving their constitutional right to have any claim decided in a court of law before a judge and a jury.

The Resident and/or Responsible Party understand that (1) he/she has the right to seek legal counsel concerning this agreement, (2) the execution of this Arbitration is not a precondition to the furnishing of services to the Resident by the Facility, and (3) this Arbitration Agreement may be rescinded by written notice to the Facility from the Resident within 30 days of signature. If not rescinded within 30 days, this Arbitration Agreement shall remain in effect for all care and services subsequently rendered at the Facility, even if such care and services are rendered following the Resident's discharge and readmission to the Facility.

<u>Id.</u>

In the trial court's December 22, 2008, Order, Judge Sanders recognized the applicability of the Federal Arbitration Act to contracts "evidencing a transaction involving commerce' which include nursing home admission agreements." (R. 59; Appellants' R.E. 6). The trial court, citing <u>Mississippi Care Center of Greenville, LLC v. Hinyub</u>, 975 So. 2d 211 (Miss. 2008), held that the "execution of the arbitration agreement was not a requirement to the providing of services", and therefore, the arbitration provision is unenforceable. (R. 60; Appellants' R.E. 7). Importantly, it appears that the trial court's ruling is grounded, in part, on its initial determination that "the actual right to arbitrate is neither expressly authorized nor implied within section 41-41-203(h)", i.e., that a decision to arbitrate is not a health-care decision within the meaning of the statute. (R. 59; Appellants' R.E. 6). Notwithstanding this finding, the trial court curiously found

that "Larry Wesley or James Wesley only had the authority to make health-care related decisions for Annie Reed under Mississippi Code Annotated section 41-41-211(2) (Rev. 2008)." <u>Id.</u>

For the reasons set forth below, the trial court's December 22, 2008, Order erroneously determined that James Wesley and Larry Wesley were not Annie Reed's statutory surrogates at the time of her admission to the facility. Further, the trial court's finding that an agreement to arbitrate is not a health-care decision within the purview of <u>Miss. Code Ann.</u> §§ 41-41-203(h) and 41-41-211 is in contravention of Mississippi precedent. The trial court also erroneously rejected Defendants' argument that James Wesley and Larry Wesley had actual or apparent authority to bind Annie Reed to the arbitration provision in the face of the uncontradicted Affidavit of DeLisa Smith. Additionally, the subject Admission Agreement and arbitration provision are not substantively or procedurally unconscionable, and the subsequently issued <u>en banc</u> opinion issued by the Mississippi Supreme Court in <u>Covenant Health & Rehabilitation of</u> Picayune, LP v. Moulds, 14 So. 3d 695 (Miss. 2009) is inapposite.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Annie Reed was admitted to ACNC on February 17, 2004, from Promise Specialty Hospital where she had been hospitalized due to a stroke and other co-morbid medical conditions. At the time of her admission to ACNC, one of Annie Reed's physicians, Dr. Tillman, had determined that she lacked the ability to understand the significant benefits, risks, and alternatives to proposed health care and to make and communicate a health-care decision. This finding is also corroborated by the ACNC records and ACNC employee, DeLisa Smith, who had met with Annie Reed just prior to her admission to ACNC to discuss pre-admission matters (including the Admission Agreement), and observed Annie Reed to be confused and not capable of understanding their conversation.

At the time of Annie Reed's admission to ACNC on February 17, 2004, James Wesley, son and Responsible Party for Annie Reed, signed an Admission Agreement, which included an arbitration provision. On May 21, 2004, Larry Wesley, son and Responsible Party for Annie Reed, signed another Admission Agreement, which included an arbitration provision. Since Annie Reed lacked capacity to make decisions for herself at the time of her admission to ACNC, James and Larry Wesley were Annie Reed's lawful surrogates pursuant to <u>Miss. Code Ann.</u> § 41-41-211. Accordingly, Annie Reed, and those claiming through her, are bound by the provisions of the Admission Agreement, including the arbitration provision which states that any legal dispute, controversy, demand or claim **shall** be resolved exclusively by binding arbitration.

Moreover, pursuant to the uncontradicted Affidavit of DeLisa Smith and Section F.5. of the Admission Agreement, James and Larry Wesley were agents (actual or implied) of Annie Reed and had the lawful authority to sign the Admission Agreement on her behalf. It is undisputed that the Plaintiff's claims fall within the purview of the arbitration provision.

The arbitration provision, which was expressly acknowledged by James and Larry Wesley via their initials appearing at the top of Section E, ARBITRATION – PLEASE READ CAREFULLY _______ (initial), unequivocally provides for (1) binding arbitration; (2) with the location of the arbitration to be at a place agreed upon by the parties, or in the absence of such an agreement, at the facility; and (3) to utilize the AHLA Rules to govern the arbitration. Although the AHLA no longer administers cases filed after January 1, 2004, unless there is a post-dispute arbitration agreement, this is of no moment to Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration. First, the subject arbitration agreement provides for the application of the AHLA Rules to the parties' arbitration, not that the AHLA will administer the arbitration. Second, the AHLA has announced that it will administer an arbitration without a post-dispute agreement if

ordered to do so by a court. The Court has the authority to order AHLA to administer the parties' dispute, and AHLA has agreed to administer same pursuant to Court Order. Most importantly, however, is that the FAA (which governs Defendants' Motion to Compel Arbitration as a matter of law) specifically provides that if no method is provided in the arbitration provision for the appointment of an arbitrator, then upon the application of either party to the Circuit Court of Adams County, Mississippi, the court shall designate and appoint an arbitrator, who shall act under the agreement as if he/she had been specifically named therein. Therefore, there is an available forum for the parties' dispute.

Having established that there is a valid arbitration agreement, and that the Plaintiff's claims fall within the scope of the arbitration provision, the final question is whether there are any legal constraints external to the parties' agreement which would prevent the enforceability of the arbitration provision. The answer is a resounding "No", as any issue regarding substantive and procedural unconscionability is a nonstarter as relates to the instant Admission Agreement and arbitration provision.

ARGUMENT

In determining the validity of a motion to compel arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act, courts generally conduct a two-part inquiry. "Under the first prong, the court should determine whether the parties have agreed to arbitrate the dispute." <u>Rogers-Dabbs</u> <u>Chevrolet-Hummer, Inc. v. Blakeney</u>, 950 So. 2d 170, 173 (Miss. 2007) (citing <u>East Ford, Inc. v.</u> <u>Taylor</u>, 826 So. 2d 709, 713 (Miss. 2002)). "The first prong has two considerations: (1) whether there is a valid arbitration agreement and (2) whether the parties' dispute is within the scope of

the arbitration agreement."⁵ <u>Taylor</u>, 826 So. 2d at 713. Under the second prong, the court is to consider "whether legal constraints external to the parties' agreement foreclosed the arbitration of those claims." <u>Id.</u> "Under the second prong, applicable contract defenses available under state contract law such as fraud, duress and unconscionability may be asserted to invalidate the arbitration agreement without offending the Federal Arbitration Act." <u>Id.</u>

I.

JAMES WESLEY AND LARRY WESLEY, ANNIE REED'S SONS, HAD AUTHORITY TO BIND ANNIE REED TO THE ARBITRATION PROVISION PURSUANT TO <u>MISS. CODE ANN.</u> § 41-41-211.

Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-211 provides, in pertinent, part as follows:

(1) A surrogate may make a health-care decision for a patient who is an adult or emancipated minor if the patient has been determined by the primary physician to lack capacity and no agent or guardian has been appointed or the agent or guardian is not reasonably available.

(2) An adult or emancipated minor may designate any individual to act as surrogate by personally informing the supervising health-care provider. In absence of a designation, or if the designee is not reasonably available, any member of the following classes of the patient's family who is reasonably available, in descending order of priority, may act as surrogate:

(a) The spouse, unless legally separated;

(b) An adult child;

(c) A parent; or

(d) An adult brother or sister.

(3) If none of the individuals eligible to act as surrogate under subsection (2) is reasonably available, an adult who has exhibited special care and concern for the patient, who is familiar with the patient's personal values, and who is reasonably available may act as a surrogate.

(7) A health-care decision made by a surrogate for a patient is effective without judicial approval.

⁵Defendants submit that there is no dispute as to whether Plaintiff's claims fall within the scope of the subject arbitration provision.

The totality of the evidence clearly demonstrates that Annie Reed lacked capacity at the

time of her admission to ACNC on February 17, 2004. In the Affidavit of DeLisa Smith, she

avers as follows regarding Ms. Reed's lack of capacity and the authority of James and/or Larry

Wesley to sign the subject Admission Agreements:

1. My name is DeLisa Smith, and at all relevant times I was an employee of Adams County Nursing Center. I am over the age of 21 and have personal knowledge of the matter set forth herein or knowledge from the records.

2. On February 17, 2004, Annie Reed was admitted to Adams County Nursing Center. Prior to her admission to Adams County Nursing Center, I met with Annie Reed at Promise Specialty Hospital to discuss pre-admission matters, including the Admission Agreement. It was my understanding that Annie Reed had been hospitalized at Promise Specialty Hospital due to a stroke and other medical conditions. During my meeting with Ms. Reed, she was confused and not able to understand our conversation adequately. I was advised that Larry Wesley, Annie Reed's son, was handling her affairs; however, he was not available to meet with me at that time to discuss his mother's admission to Adams County Nursing Center. I did speak to Larry Wesley, and he advised that it was acceptable for James Wesley to sign any documents or do anything else necessary to admit Annie Reed to Adams County Nursing Center.

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