## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-00730

ADAMS COMMUNITY CARE CENTER, LLC, ET AL.

Appellants/Defendants

VS.

SHEILA REED, AS PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE AND CONSERVATOR OF ANNIE REED

Appellee/Plaintiff

Appeal from the Circuit Court of Adams County, Mississippi Civil Action No. 05KV0246S

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

John G. (Trae) Sims, III (MB#)
Robert L. Cooper, III (MB#)
SIMS LAW GROUP, PLLC
Post Office Box 917
Canton, Mississippi 39046
(T) (601) 859-9022
(F) (601) 859-9023

Attorneys for Appellee/Plaintiff

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-CA-00730

ADAMS COMMUNITY CARE CENTER, LLC, ET AL.

Appellants/Defendants

VS.

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

reasonably be led to believe that either James or Larry Wesley possessed the implied or apparent authority to bind her to the terms of the Admission Agreements.. Annie Reed, and Annie Reed only, could validly execute the Admissions Agreements and bind any potential claim that she may have against ACNC to mandatory arbitration.

# 1. <u>Neither James Nor Larry Wesley Possessed the Requisite Express, Implied or Apparent Authority to Bind Annie Reed to the Terms of the Admissions Agreements.</u>

The burden of proving an agency relationship rests squarely on the party asserting it. Forest Hill Nursing Center, Inc. v. McFarlan, 995 So.2d 775, 781 (Miss. 2008). An express agent is one who is in fact authorized by the principal to act on their behalf. <u>Id</u>. There is no evidence in the record that any type of agreement existed between James or Larry Wesley and Annie Reed that would have provided either with the express authority to act on behalf of Annie Reed. Express authority can be evidenced by a durable power of attorney, or can be judicially conferred by court order (e.g., conservatorship or guardianship). Neither James nor Larry Wesley had power of attorney over Annie Reed, and neither of them were Annie Reed's judicially-appointed conservator.

Implied agency requires that the principal give the agent actual authorization to perform acts which reasonably lead third parties to believe that an agency relationship exists. <u>Id</u>. The existence of an implied agency is proved by facts and circumstances of the particular case, including words and conduct of the parties. <u>Id</u>. (citing 3 Am.Jur.2d Agency § 16 (2004)). The focus is on whether the agent reasonably believes, because of the principal's conduct, that the principal desired the agent so to act. <u>Id</u>. (citing 3 Am.Jur.2d Agency § 72 (2004)). The Defendants have offered no evidence of any words or conduct on the part of Annie Reed which would have led James or Larry Wesley to believe either was her agent or had any authority to act on her behalf in executing the admissions agreements.

In order to prove that James or Larry Wesley had apparent authority to act on behalf of Annie Reed, the Defendants must provide evidence of acts or conduct of the principal indicating the agent's authority, reasonable reliance on those acts by a third person, and a detrimental change in position as a result of that reliance. <u>Id</u>. Once again, the record before the Court contains no proof of any acts or conduct of Annie Reed which would have reasonably led ACNC to conclude that either James or Larry Wesley had the authority to execute the Admissions Agreements on behalf of Annie Reed.

Not only does the record in this case fail to show that either James or Larry Wesley had any authority to bind Annie Reed to the arbitration and admissions agreement, but the record is also void of any evidence to suggest that Annie Reed authorized anyone other than herself to contract on her behalf. Absent proof to the contrary, the Court must find that Annie Reed retained the exclusive authority to execute the arbitration and admissions agreements on her own behalf.

2. <u>Because There Is No Proof in the Record that Annie Reed Was Incompetent</u>
When Either of the Admissions Agreements Were Executed by James and
Larry Wesley, The Uniform Health Care Surrogate Statute Is Inapplicable in this Case.

The Uniform Health Care Surrogate Statute states in pertinent part:

- (1) A surrogate may make a health-care decision for a patient who is an adult or emancipated minor if the patient has been determined by the primary physician to lack capacity and no agent or guardian has been appointed or the agent or guardian is not reasonably available.
- (2) An adult or emancipated minor may designate any individual to act as surrogate by personally informing the supervising health-care provider. In the absence of a designation, or if the designee is not reasonably available, any member of the following classes of the patient's family who is reasonably available, in descending order of priority, may act as surrogate:
  - (a) The spouse, unless legally separated;
  - (b) An adult child;
  - (c) A parent; or

#### (d) An adult brother or sister.

. .

(6) A surrogate shall make a health-care decision in accordance with the patient's individual instructions, if any, and other wishes to the extent known by the surrogate. Otherwise, the surrogate shall make the decision in accordance with the surrogate's determination of the patient's best interest, the surrogate shall consider the patient's personal values to the extent known to the surrogate.

Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-211. Quite obviously, the Uniform Health Care Decisions Act does not apply to those persons who are competent. <u>Coleman</u>, 961 So.2d at 38. It is clear that a surrogate may make health-care decisions for a patient only after the patient is found to be incapacitated by a physician. <u>McFarlan</u>, 995 So.2d at 780. The Defendants have come forward with no proof sufficient to trigger the application of the health-care surrogate statute.

The Defendants have argued to this Court that the "totality of the evidence clearly demonstrates that Annie Reed lacked capacity at the time of her admission to ACNC on February 17, 2004." (Appellants' Brief, Page 11). This "totality of the evidence" consists of two pages of Annie Reed's medical records: one in which Dr. Barry Tillman diagnosed a cerebrovascular accident ("CVA," or a stroke) on February 17, 2004, and one in which Dr, Barry Tillman noted Annie Reed's behavior as "confused" on February 16, 2004. (1:57R-57S; Appellants' R.E. 51-52).

The Defendants also contend that the affidavit of DeLisa Smith, an employee of ACNC who is not a medical doctor, is sufficient proof of Annie Reed's incompetence. Smith states, "During my meeting with Ms. Reed, she was confused and not able to understand our conversation adequately." (1:57A-57C; Appellants' R.E. 34-36). The Uniform Health Care Surrogate Statute, by its plain terms, requires that a medical doctor determine whether an individual is incapacitated or incompetent for the purposes of the statute. Therefore, DeLisa

Smith's observations are simply not relevant in deciding whether Annie Reed was competent upon her admission to ACNC on February 17, 2004.

The trial judge requested that the Defendants provide an affidavit from Dr. Barry Tillman to bolster their assertion that Annie Reed was incompetent upon admission to ACNC on February 17, 2004. (3:32; Appellee's R.E. 2). Although no reasons have been offered as to their inability to comply with the trial court's request, the Defendants were not able to procure such an affidavit from Dr. Barry Tillman. Obviously, Dr. Barry Tillman was either unwilling, or more likely unable, to offer sworn testimony that Annie Reed was incapacitated or incompetent upon her admission to ACNC on February 17, 2004. As Dr. Barry Tillman was a co-defendant in this matter and both resides and works in close proximity to the courthouse in Adams County, one would think that the Defendants would have simply asked him or subpoenaed him to elicit live testimony at the hearing on their motion. The Defendants did neither, and as a result, they failed to meet their burden of proving that the Uniform Health Care Surrogate Statute is applicable due to Annie Reed's incompetence at the time of her admission to ACNC on February 17, 2004.

The Defendants submitted absolutely no evidence to the trial court relating to Annie Reed's competence at the time the May 21, 2004, Admissions Agreement was executed by Larry Wesley. Therefore, even if this Court somehow construed that Annie Reed was incapacitated within the meaning to the Uniform Health Care Surrogate Statute on February 17, 2004, there is no evidence that she was incapacitated at the time the May 21, 2004, Admissions Agreement was executed.

The trial court specifically found that the Defendants offered no evidence proving that Annie Reed "was incompetent, incapacitated, or otherwise unable to sign the contact herself." (1:59; Appellants' R.E. 6). The Defendants failed to meet the evidentiary burden, and the trial

court could reach no other conclusion based upon the evidence. Under <u>Upchurch</u>, the trial court's finding of fact in regard to Annie Reed's competence, and thereby the application of the Uniform Health Care Surrogate Statute, can be reversed only if this Court concludes the findings of fact were manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. The Plaintiff contends that the record before the Court would not support such a finding.

C. EVEN IF JAMES OR LARRY WESLEY EXECUTED THE ADMISSIONS AGREEMENTS AS ANNIE REED'S HEALTH CARE SURROGATE, THE CLAIMS ARE STILL NOT SUBJECT TO MANDATORY ARBITRATION BECAUSE ARBITRATION IS NOT A HEALTH CARE DECISION UNDER THE SPECIFIC FACTS OF THIS CASE.

The Court has held that a nursing home resident's daughter lacked the necessary authority to enter into an arbitration provision contained within an admission agreement, on the resident's behalf, therefore the arbitration provision was invalid and the nursing home could not compel arbitration. Mississippi Care Center of Greenville, LLC v. Hinyub, 975 So.2d 211 (Miss. 2008). The Court found that the daughter did not have authority to bind her father to an arbitration agreement in the absence of a durable power of attorney or authority conferred as health care surrogate pursuant to the Uniform Health Care Surrogate Statute, Miss. Code Ann. § 41-41-211 (Rev. 2005). Id. According to the statute, the authority of a health care surrogate is limited to making "health care decisions," and although the execution of an arbitration clause as part of an admissions agreement has been held to be a "health care decision," the Court distinguished the arbitration clause in Hinyub because it did not have to be specifically agreed to in order for the patient to be admitted or receive care at the nursing home. Id.

Like <u>Hinyub</u>, the arbitration clause in the present case did not have to be agreed to in order for Annie Reed to be admitted to ACNC. (1:3R, 3Y; Appellants' R.E. 25, 32). Therefore, under <u>Hinyub</u>, the arbitration clause in this case was not part of a "health care decision." In <u>Hinyub</u>, this Court held that an arbitration clause that is not mandatory to be admitted to the

nursing home will not qualify as part of the "health care decision" under the Uniform Health Care Surrogate Statute. <u>Id.</u> at 218. The language of the arbitration clause makes it clear that the resident is not required to sign to be admitted. In pertinent part, the arbitration clause states that "the execution of this Arbitration is not a precondition to the furnishing of services to the resident by the facility." (1:3R, 3Y; Appellants' R.E. 25, 32). Therefore, even assuming arguendo that Larry Wesley or James Wesley could be construed to be Annie Reed's surrogate, under the clear rule set out in <u>Hinyub</u>, the Uniform Health Care Surrogate Statute is not applicable based upon the facts in the record.

Because the Admissions Agreements did not require an agreement to arbitrate as a condition of admission, the decision of whether to agree to the arbitration clause would not be considered a health care decision. Applying <u>Hinyub</u>, the trial court reached the same conclusion. (1:59-60, Appellants' R.E. 6-7).

D. THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE IS UNEFORCEABLE BECAUSE THE DESIGNATED ARBITRATION FORUM IS UNAVAILABLE.

The Court has stated, "Arbitration is about choice of forum-period." <u>Vicksburg Partners</u>, <u>L.P. v. Stephens</u>, 911 So.2d 507, 525 (Miss. 2005). In the admissions agreement signed by Northrip on January 14, 2005, the Defendants proposed to have any disputes administered in accordance with the American Health Lawyers Association ("AHLA") Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitrations. (1:3Q, 3X; Appellants' R.E. 24, 31) Further, the AHLA Alternative Dispute Resolution Service Rules of Procedure for Arbitrations were also incorporated into and made part of the arbitration agreement. *Id*.

According to the AHLA's website, the AHLA's Alternative Dispute Resolution Service [the Service] has amended its rules for consumer health care liability claims filed with the

Service after January 1, 2004.<sup>3</sup> Effective June 2006, the Service will administer a "consumer health care liability claim" on or after January 1, 2004 only if all of the parties have agreed in writing to arbitrate the claim after the injury has occurred and a copy of the agreement is received by the Service at the time the parties make a request for a list of arbitrators or a judge orders that the Service administer an arbitration under the terms of a pre-injury agreement.

Assuming arguendo that a valid agreement to arbitrate exists between the Plaintiff and Defendants, in light of the AHLA rules amendment, the arbitration agreement in the instant action has likely become unenforceable because the parties' forum choice is no longer available. 

In Magnolia Healthcare, Inc. v. Barnes, 994 So.2d 159, 160 (Miss. 2008), the arbitration agreement called for the use of the AHLA rules, but did not require AHLA administration. 

The plurality of the Court (who would have found the arbitration agreement unenforceable because the forum choice was no longer available) cited the AHLA rules, which require a post-dispute agreement to arbitrate. 

Id. The plurality concluded that, because the patient's injuries occurred after AHLA's policy was implemented, and there was no post-dispute agreement, "there was no valid agreement to arbitrate." 

Id. at 162. Although a plurality decision, the rational of Barnes should be applied in this action, and the arbitration agreement should be deemed unenforceable as the choice of forum agreed to by Defendants and Plaintiff is no longer available.

This Court should also note that the Supreme Court recently cited with approval and applied the rational of the <u>Barnes</u> plurality decision to render an arbitration clause unenforceable on the basis of forum unavailability. <u>Covenant Health & Rehabilitation of Picayune, LP v. Moulds</u>, 14 So.3d 695, 707-08 (Miss. 2009). If the arbitration clauses before the Court are valid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> http://www.healthlawyers.org/Resources/ADR/Pages/RulesAmendment.aspx#1 (visited November 10, 2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This is precisely what a plurality of the Mississippi Supreme Court would have held in <u>Magnolia Healthcare</u>, <u>Inc. v. Barnes</u>, 994 So.2d 159 (Miss. 2008).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Arbitration Agreement currently before the Court is the same as that described in <u>Barnes</u> and calls for the use of AHLA rules but does not require administration.

and the forum agreed to by the parties herein was the AHLA, and the AHLA refused to accept the dispute, then the primary purpose of arbitration, that being to avoid crowded dockets and involvement of courts. <u>Id.</u> at 707. Following <u>Moulds</u>, this Court should not become a party to redrafting or reforming the purported agreement and should not be used to reform a contract to select a forum not anticipates by the parties to this action. This Court's involvement is limited to determining whether to compel arbitration *vel non*. <u>Id</u>.

The Defendants drafted the Admissions Agreements containing the arbitration clauses at issue and presented them for execution that the AHLA amended its rules in January of 2004 to exclude administration of pre-dispute agreements to arbitrate. The Defendants have now realized this oversight on their part has rendered the arbitration clauses unenforceable, and they are essentially inviting this Court to reform the contract that they drafted. Just as in <u>Barnes</u> and Moulds, the Court should refuse this invitation.

E. THE DEFENDANTS HAVE FAILED TO ADDRESS WHETHER ANNIE REED WAS A THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARY TO THE ADMISSIONS AGREEMENTS EXECUTED BY JAMES AND LARRY WESLEY AND ANY SUCH ARGUMENT HAS BEEN WAIVED.

The Defendants sought this Court's review of all factual and legal issues related to the trial court's denial of their motion to compel arbitration. (Appellants' Brief, p. 1). However, the Defendants raised and addressed the four issues identified in the Statement of the Issues contained herein. The law is well settled in Mississippi that this Court is not required to address any issue that is not supported by reasons or authority. Varvaris v. Perreault, 813 So.2d 750, 753 (Miss. 2001). An issue is waived if an appellant fails address it and/or fails to cite authority. Id. The issue of third party beneficiary was raised in the court below, and the trial court found that the doctrine was inapplicable to the facts of this case. (1:59; Appellants' R.E. 6). The Defendants did not raise or brief the issue before this Court, and it is thereby waived.

# **CONCLUSION**

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